A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Mr. Hankerson's conviction for attempting to elude a 

pursuing police vehicle violates due process because the evidence was 

insufficient to allow any rational trier of fact to find the elements 

beyond a reasonable doubt. 

2. The trial court violated CrR 3.6 when it failed to enter 

written findings of fact and conclusions of law after conducting an 

evidentiary hearing on Mr. Hankerson's three separate motions to 

suppress evidence based on constitutional violations. 

3. The trial court's oral finding one ofthe officers spoke to a 

neighbor who reported observing the suspects enter the garage was not 

supported by substantial evidence. 

4. The warrantless search of the garage without exigent 

circumstances violated the Fourth Amendment of the United States 

Constitution and article 1, section 7 of the Washington Constitution. 

5. The seizure of the Range Rover and the searches that 

followed were unreasonable and violated the Fourth Amendment of the 

United States Constitution and article 1, section 7 ofthe Washington 

Constitution. 
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6. The trial court's admission of a dashboard camera video 

showing Mr. Hankerson's arrest at gun point was manifestly 

unreasonable and prejudicial. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. A conviction based on insufficient evidence contravenes the 

due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Evidence is 

insufficient if no rational trier of fact could find all of the elements of 

the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Was there insufficient 

evidence to prove the charge of attempting to elude a pursuing police 

vehicle where no evidence was introduced establishing that the police 

officer was in uniform? Was there insufficient evidence to prove that 

the vehicle was operated in a reckless manner where there were no 

other vehicles or people impacted by the manner in which the vehicle 

was driven? 

2. If an evidentiary hearing is conducted pursuant to a erR 3.6 

motion to suppress evidence, the court shall enter written findings of 

fact and conclusions of law following the hearing. When a case comes 

before an appellate court without the required findings, there is a strong 

presumption that dismissal is the appropriate remedy. Was the trial 

court's oral opinion and record of hearing insufficiently clear and 
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comprehensive to permit appellate review, rending the error not 

harmless? 

3. Police may search without a warrant when it is justified by 

exigent circumstances. The exigent circumstances exception applies 

when obtaining a warrant is not practical because of a true emergency 

or crisis that requires swift action to prevent imminent danger to life, 

the escape of a suspect, or the destruction of evidence. Was the exigent 

circumstances exception to the warrant requirement inapplicable where 

the suspected crime was non-violent, there was no reason to believe the 

suspect was armed, and law enforcement waited outside the garage for 

approximately 20 minutes before entering? 

4. An impoundment of a vehicle is a seizure because it is a 

governmental taking. The Fourth Amendment and article 1, section 7 

of the Washington Constitution require all seizures to be reasonable. 

Was the warrantless seizure of the Range Rover unreasonable because 

there was no probable cause to believe the vehicle had been stolen or 

used in a felony offense? Did the trial court err when it concluded that 

a locked and legally parked vehicle in a public place was abandoned 

such that any reasonable expectation of privacy in the vehicle was 

relinquished? 
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5. Evidence may be excluded if its probative value is 

substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Did the 

trial court abuse its discretion by admitting a dashboard camera video 

depicting Mr. Hankerson's arrest at gun point? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On July 2, 2011, Seattle Police Officer Brian Hanson entered a 

parking lot and noticed a vehicle without a front license plate. 4/5/12 

RP 59,66. Officer Hanson parked his vehicle 50 to 75 feet away and 

observed the vehicle, a newer gray Range Rover, for approximately 30 

seconds. 4/5/12 RP 67, 79. The Range Rover exited the parking lot 

and Officer Hanson followed it. 4/5/12 RP 68. Officer Hanson 

activated his overhead lights after the Range Rover committed a traffic 

infraction. 4/5/12 RP 71. The Range Rover did not stop and Officer 

Hanson turned offhis lights due to his department's pursuit policy, 

which does not allow him to continue pursuit merely for a traffic 

infraction. 4/5/12 RP 55-56, 75. 

Officer Hanson continued following the Range Rover, which 

entered the southbound lanes ofInterstate 5 (1-5). 4/5/12 RP 75. 

Traffic on 1-5 was heavy and the Range Rover was not driving in an 

erratic or dangerous manner. 4/5/12 RP 76. Officer Hanson requested 
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assistance from the Washington State Patrol. 4/5/12 RP 75. 

Washington State Patrol Trooper Brandon Villanti observed the 

Range Rover exit 1-90. 4/5/12 RP 33. He attempted to effectuate a 

traffic stop by activating his lights and sirens, but the Range Rover did 

not respond. 4/5/12 RP 32-33. Trooper Villanti lost sight of the vehicle 

after it entered a park at the end of Lake Washington Boulevard. 4/5/12 

RP 35-36. 

Washington State Patrol Trooper David Bennett later located the 

Range Rover parked in a cul-de-sac on 120th Street. 4/5/12 RP 45. 

The vehicle was unoccupied, locked, and legally parked. 4/3/12 RP 10. 

Trooper Bennett was initially unable to obtain a vehicle identification 

number (V IN) for the vehicle. 4/5/12 RP 49. Trooper Bennett 

impounded the vehicle, conducted an inventory search, and located a 

VIN. 4/5/12 RP 49-50. There was no information that the vehicle was 

stolen. See 4/5/12 RP 50. The vehicle was not reported stolen until 

weeks later. 4/9/12 RP 99. 

On July 10, 2011 at approximately 4:05 a.m., Seattle Police 

Officer Molly Clark observed a beige Honda that she began to follow. 

4/5/12 RP 10. It was the only vehicle on the road at that time. Id. The 

vehicle made a turn without signaling and without stopping at the stop 
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sign. 4/5/12 RP 11. The beige Honda then made a U-turn on Aurora 

Avenue and Officer Clark did the same in an effort to catch up to the 

vehicle. 4/5/12 RP 12. Officer Clark did not attempt to effectuate a 

traffic stop at this time. 4/5/12 RP 13. 

Officer Clark was unable to see driver's face and could not 

identify the driver's race. 4/5/12 RP 14, 22. She followed the Honda to 

Fifth Avenue and Broad Street, where the Honda proceeded through a 

red light. 4/5/12 RP 15. At that point, Officer Clark activated her 

overhead lights. 4/5/12 RP 16. The Honda accelerated and Officer 

Clark observed the vehicle travel past a stop sign without stopping. 

4/5/12 RP 16. There was no one else in the area when this occurred. 

4/5/12 RP 18. Officer Clark turned off her overhead lights after 

obtaining the license plate number and did not pursue the Honda any 

further. 4/5/12 RP 16, 19. 

Later on July 10,2011 at 5:56 p.m., Seattle police officers were 

alerted by a Lo Jack system l that a stolen Lexus was in the area. 4/5/12 

RP 19. Officers arrived at a residence with a detached garage and 

I Lo Jack is a private company that installs transmitters on personal vehicles 
that are activated when the vehicle is reported stolen. 4/4112 RP 16. If a police 
vehicle is equipped with a Lo Jack tracker box, it will begin to beep when in 
close proximity to the stolen vehicle. 4/4/ 12 RP 17. The Lo Jack indicator points 
in the direction of the vehicle and signals how close the vehicle is. 4/4112 RP 19-
20. 
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located the stolen Lexus parked in the driveway. 4/5112 RP 21. 

Officers were at that location for approximately 20 minutes before 

opening the garage door and searching the garage. 4/4/12 RP 7. 

Officers removed Mr. Hankerson from the garage and placed him under 

arrest. 4/5112 RP 23. 

Mr. Hankerson was convicted ofthe following: (1) possession 

of a stolen motor vehicle for the July 2, 2011 incident involving the 

Range Rover; (2) possession of a stolen motor vehicle for the July 10, 

2011 incident involving the Honda; (3) attempting to elude a pursuing 

police vehicle for the July 10, 2011 incident involving the Honda, and 

(4) taking a motor vehicle in the first degree for the July 10, 2011 

incident involving the Lexus. CP 35-37, 93-96, 99. Pertinent facts are 

addressed in further detail in the argument sections below. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. Mr. Hankerson's conviction for attempting to elude a 
pursuing police vehicle violates due process because there 
was insufficient evidence for any rational trier of fact to find 
all the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. 

A conviction based on insufficient evidence contravenes the due 

process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 

U.S. 307, 316, 99 S. Ct. 2781,61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979). Areviewing 

court must reverse a conviction for insufficient evidence where no 
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rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the 

crime beyond a reasonable doubt, viewing all evidence in the light most 

favorable to the State. State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 6, 309 P.3d 318 

(2013). As discussed below, there was insufficient evidence to 

establish ,that Officer Clark was in uniform and that the Honda was 

operated in a reckless manner. 

a. There was no evidence that Officer Clark was in uniform 
during the incident. 

RCW 46.61.024(1) provides: 

Any driver of a motor vehicle who willfully fails or 
refuses to immediately bring his or her vehicle to a stop 
and who drives his or her vehicle in a reckless manner 
while attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, after 
being given a visual or audible signal to bring the vehicle 
to a stop, shall be guilty of a class C felony. The signal 
given by the police officer may be by hand, voice, 
emergency light, or siren. The officer giving such a 
signal shall be in uniform and the vehicle shall be 
equipped with lights and sirens. 

(emphasis added). Statutes should be construed as a whole and all 

language used should be given effect. State v. Walter, 66 Wn. App. 862, 

870, 833 P.2d 440 (1992). Criminal statutes are strictly construed. 

State v. Rinkes, 49 Wn.2d 664,667,306 P.2d 205 (1957). The term 

"shall" in a statute is mandatory unless contrary legislative intent is 

apparent. State v. Krall, 125 Wn.2d 146, 148, 881 P.2d 1040 (1994). 
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"The eluding statute clearly requires evidence that the officer 

giving the signal to stop shall be in uniform." State v. Hudson, 85 Wn. 

App. 401,403,932 P.2d 714 (1997) (citing State v. Fussell, 85 Wn. App. 

126, 127-28, 925 P.2d 642 (1996». The requirement that the police 

officer be in uniform is an express element of the crime. Fussell, 84 

Wn. App. at 128 (citing State v. Stayton, 39 Wn. App. 46, 49, 691 P.2d 

596 (1984». The State never elicited testimony that Officer Clark was 

in uniform when she attempted to stop the Honda. See 4/5113 RP 3-24. 

Moreover, the testimony did not allow the inference that Officer 

Clark was in uniform. "[I]nferences based on circumstantial evidence 

must be reasonable and cannot be based on speculation." Vasquez, 178 

Wn.2d at 16. Such inferences must be "logically derived from the facts 

proved, and should not be the subject of mere surmise or arbitrary 

assumption." Bailey v. Alabama, 219 U.S. 219, 232, 31 S. Ct. 145,55 

L. Ed. 191 (1911). 

In State v. Hudson, two officers in a marked vehicle activated 

their emergency lights and siren to effectuate a traffic stop on a stolen 

vehicle. 85 Wn. App. at 404. The defendant admitted that after failing 

to stop, he heard an officer identify himself as police and order the 

defendant to stop. ld. However, no testimony was offered to establish 
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the police officers were in uniform. Jd. "Evidence that the officers 

were in a marked vehicle and that Hudson probably knew that they 

were police officers, without more, is insufficient to permit a rational 

trier of fact to infer beyond a reasonable doubt that these officers were 

in uniform." Jd. at 405 (citing Fussell, 84 Wn. App. at 128-29). 

There was insufficient evidence to establish that Officer Clark 

was in uniform at the time she attempted to effectuate a traffic stop on 

the Honda. Because proof that the police officer was in uniform is 

mandatory under RCW 46.61.024( 1), no rational trier of fact could find 

Mr. Hankerson guilty of the crime of attempting to elude a pursuing 

police vehicle. 

b. There was insufficient evidence for any trier of fact to find 
that the Honda was driven in a reckless manner. 

The State was also required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt 

that in addition to failing to stop, the vehicle was driven in a "reckless 

manner." RCW 46.61.024(1). The term "reckless manner" means to 

operate a vehicle in a "rash or heedless manner, indifferent to the 

consequences." State v. Roggenkamp, 153 Wn.2d 614,631,106 P.3d 

396 (2005). "Heedlessness" means "the quality of being thoughtless 

and inconsiderate; esp., conduct involving the disregard of others' 

rights or safety." Black's Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009). 
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There was no evidence at trial that the operation of the Honda at 

any point evidenced a disregard for the safety of others or an 

indifference to the consequences that might occur because of the 

manner in which the Honda was being driven. Rather, Officer Clark 

testified repeatedly that the roads were nearly completely empty. 

4/5/12 RP 10, 12, 13. The Honda's operation had no bearing on any 

other person's safety. 

The Honda was the only vehicle on Aurora Avenue when Officer 

Clark first observed it. 4/5/12 RP 10. After the Honda made a U-turn, 

she noted that "there was no one out and [the Honda] just went straight 

down Aurora, so I tried to go catch up with it." 4/5/12 RP 12. When 

asked whether Aurora is a busy thoroughfare, Officer Clark agreed that 

it normally is busy, but at that time there was nothing else on the road 

other than the Honda. 4/5/12 RP 13. 

As Officer Clark continued to follow the Honda, they traveled 

"a little bit" over the speed limit. 4/5/12 RP 14. At Fifth Avenue and 

Broad Street, the Honda went through the intersection against a red 

light. 4/5/12 RP 15. Officer Clark noted that there were two or three 

other vehicles at the light, but no pedestrians in the area. 4/5/12 RP 15-
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16. When she activated her overhead lights, the vehicle accelerated and 

proceeded through a stop sign. 4/5/12 RP 16. 

There was no testimony that the Honda's operation constituted 

anything but traffic infractions. There was no other vehicle affected by 

the manner in which the Honda was driven. Its operation does not 

evidence an indifference to the consequences. There was no evidence 

that the Honda was excessively speeding, driven in a manner unsafe 

due to road or whether conditions, or in any other way demonstrated 

that it was being driven in a rash or heedless manner. Thus, there was 

insufficient evidence that the vehicle was operated in a reckless manner 

as required by RCW 46.61.024. 

c. The remedy is reversal and dismissal with prejudice. 

A defendant whose conviction has been reversed due to 

insufficient evidence cannot be retried. State v. Anderson, 96 Wn.2d 

739, 742, 638 P.2d 1205 (1982) (citing Hudson v. Louisiana, 450 U.S. 

40,44,101 S. Ct. 970, 67 L. Ed. 2d 30 (1981)). Consequently, this 

Court should reverse and dismiss the attempting to elude a pursuing 

police vehicle conviction with prejudice. 
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2. The trial court failed to enter written findings of fact and 
conclusions of law following the evidentiary hearing 
addressing the erR 3.6 motions to suppress. 

The trial court shall enter written findings of fact and 

conclusions of law following an evidentiary hearing on a motion to 

suppress physical, oral, or identification evidence. CrR 3.6. When a 

case comes before the appellate court without the required findings, 

there is a strong presumption that dismissal is the appropriate remedy. 

State v. Smith, 68 Wn. App. 201, 211, 842 P.2d 494 (1992). An 

appellate court may overlook the lack of findings and proceed to the 

merits only for compelling reasons. ld. 

The consistent and firm enforcement of CrR 3.6 contributes to 

the "fair and expeditious handling of criminal appeals in the interest of 

both the defendant and the public." ld. at 209. The failure of 

prosecuting attorneys to perform this obligation results in an enormous 

waste of time and energy by the court addressing these issues. ld. at 

210. The lack of written findings and conclusions on a material issue 

in which the State bears the burden cannot be harmless unless the oral 

opinion is so clear that written findings would be a mere formality. ld. 

at 208. 
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The trial court's opinion falls short of this standard and thus Mr. 

Hankerson's convictions cannot stand on the present record. When 

finding that law enforcement officers were permitted to open a garage 

door, enter, and arrest Mr. Hankerson, the trial court did not specify 

which exception to the warrant requirement justified this search and 

seizure. See 4/4/12 RP 6-9. 

Moreover, the trial court's oral ruling failed to resolve disputed 

testimony concerning what witnesses told law enforcement. One 

officer testified that the two witnesses reported that the suspects 

associated with the Lexus had left the area. 4/3112 RP 34. However, 

another officer testified that law enforcement learned from these same 

two witnesses that suspects went into the garage. 4/2112 RP 62. The 

trial court then attributed this information to a neighbor in its oral 

ruling, a finding unsupported by the evidence. 4/4112 RP 7; see 4/2112 

RP 61-62. 

The trial court's oral ruling was not sufficiently clear and 

comprehensive to render its failure to enter written findings and 

conclusions harmless. There are no compelling reasons to justify this 

Court overlooking the lack of findings. The remedy is reversal and 
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dismissal in accordance with the strong presumption applicable when 

findings are absent.