NO. 71161-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

SENAI HANKERSON,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE MICHAEL TRICKEY

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG, King County Prosecuting Attorney:

STEPHANIE D. KNIGHTLINGER & Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

Beyond the danger to the officers, officers needed to secure the scene to protect the public. It was a busy residential area with many pedestrians. 3RP 60. Two witnesses were in the driveway

and another had seen Hankerson drive up in the stolen Lexus.

3RP 61-62; 4RP 34; 5RP 7; CP 182. All could have been at risk if the suspect in the garage had decided to ambush officers. The danger to the officers and the public was an exigent circumstance justifying entry of the garage.

Turning to the six additional factors, officers had strong reason to believe Hankerson was in the garage. Stone was the second officer on-scene, after Ortiz and Brathwait, and the first to speak to the two witnesses in the driveway. 3RP 61. He testified that these two individuals said that a black male and white female had driven up in the Lexus moments before officers arrived and that they had hidden in the garage. 3RP 61-62; 5RP 7; CP 182.

Second, there was reasonably trustworthy information that Hankerson was guilty. Officers had immediately tracked the stolen Lexus' LoJack signal to the scene and the witness' statements led them to believe that those in the Lexus had just driven up and hidden in the garage. 3RP 58-59, 62; 5RP 7; CP 182. Events happened quickly with the officers' entering the garage approximately one hour and twenty minutes from when Hankerson

stole the Lexus.⁹ 3RP 46, 58-60, 84 81; 4RP 47; 5RP 7; Ex. 16. Given the timing and the witness' information, officers had reliable information that Hankerson stole the Lexus.

Third, officers peaceably entered the garage. Stone opened the garage door while other officers entered the garage. 3RP 66; 5RP 7; CP 183. The officers had their guns drawn to protect themselves given the high-risk situation, but their entry was still peaceable. 3RP 66. They holstered their firearms after ensuring that there was no risk. 3RP 75-77; Ex. 16.¹⁰

Lastly, the remaining factors were substantially satisfied.

While taking a motor vehicle in the first degree is not classified as a violent offense, it is one that presents a risk to the public and officers. 3RP 55-57. It is also a class B felony. RCW 9A.56.075.

The garage did not have another exit, so it was not likely that Hankerson could have escaped. 3RP 62-63. This increased the danger to the officers and witnesses who were in front of the

⁹ Craig Ludy testified that they had searched for the Lexus for approximately 15 to 20 minutes before calling police. 3RP 45. He had signed the statement at 5:28 p.m. 3RP 46. Stone testified that when he responded the Lexus had been reported stolen approximately 30 minutes prior, he was the second patrol car to arrive on-scene, and that they opened the garage within 5-7 minutes of his arrival. 3RP 58-60, 64. Walter testified that he was dispatched at 5:56 p.m. and estimated that officers searched the Lexus 15-30 minutes later. 4RP 47.

¹⁰ Exhibit 16 was the trial exhibit, but the same exhibit was pretrial exhibit 5. 4RP 51; CP 178.

garage and at risk of an ambush by a suspect hidden inside.

3RP 63. Officers had to act quickly to secure the scene for their own and the public's safety.

Overall, this was a sufficiently serious offense with unique circumstances calling for quick action. Similar to the situation presented in <u>Patterson</u>, where officers searched a parked, secured, and unoccupied car that was connected with a very recent burglary, the officers' entry of the garage was justified. 112 Wn.2d at 735-37.

In the alternative, should this Court find that the officers' entry into the garage to arrest Hankerson was not justified, the admission of Antonio Guerrero's identification of Hankerson was harmless error. A constitutional error is harmless when the appellate court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that a reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the absence of the error. Chapman v. California, 286 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967); State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). The inquiry focuses on whether the untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. State v. Le, 103 Wn. App. 354, 367, 12 P.3d 653 (2000).

In <u>Le</u>, this Court concluded that the trial court erred by admitting an officer's post-arrest identification of the defendant

where the court had found that exigent circumstances did not allow the officers' entry into his home to arrest him. 103 Wn. App. 656. Yet, the admission of the identification was harmless given the other evidence. Id. The officer testified that she had gotten a very good look at the defendant before he fled the scene of the burglary. Id. She had seen him from a short distance in broad daylight for approximately ten seconds. Id. at 367-68. Another neighbor had seen a young man run through his yard and into a house, which turned out to be the defendant's house. Id. at 368. This evidence necessarily led to a finding of guilt. Id.

The untainted evidence in this case is arguably more overwhelming than in Le. Michelle Antioquia, the codefendant, testified that after she and Hankerson had retreated to the garage with the Honda, Hankerson had the idea to drive to a nearby dealership. 7RP 127-28. Hankerson parked the Honda around the corner from the dealership, then disappeared for a few minutes. 7RP 128-29. He returned with the Lexus. 7RP 128-29. Hankerson then switched the license plate and his belongings from the Honda to the Lexus. 7RP 128. They then drove the Lexus back to the garage. 7RP 130.

Police arrived minutes after they returned to the garage; so quickly that Hankerson had not had time to completely shut the garage door. 7RP 130. She testified that they heard the police and Hankerson told her to lie down on the mattress and act like they were sleeping. 7RP 131.

Antioquia's testimony and the officers' testimony that they tracked the Lexus to the garage and saw the partially-open garage door is sufficiently overwhelming to necessarily lead to a finding of guilt. Thus, even if this Court concludes that the entry was unlawful, Hankerson's conviction for first degree taking a motor vehicle without permission, count 5, should be affirmed.

4. OFFICERS LAWFULLY SEIZED THE RANGE ROVER AS THEY HAD REASON TO BELIEVE IT WAS USED IN THE COMMISSION OF A FELONY AND THAT IT WAS ABANDONED.

Hankerson next contends that the officers unlawfully seized the Range Rover because they did not have the authority to impound the vehicle and it had not been voluntarily abandoned. His claim fails for three reasons. First, Hankerson does not have standing to challenge the seizure because he did not possess it at the time it was seized. Second, officers lawfully impounded the Range Rover because they had probable cause to believe that it

was stolen and had been used in commission of the felony of attempting to elude. Third, the Range Rover was voluntarily abandoned at the dead-end street.

 Hankerson Does Not Have Standing To Contest The Seizure Of The Range Rover.

In order to challenge the validity of a search or seizure, a defendant must have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the area searched or the item seized. Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143, 99 S. Ct. 421, 430, 58 L. Ed. 2d 387 (1978); see also State v. Zakel, 119 Wn.2d 563, 571, 834 P.2d 1046 (1992) (finding no legitimate expectation of privacy in stolen car).

Washington still recognizes the doctrine of automatic standing, although the doctrine has been abolished in federal court. State v. Williams, 142 Wn.2d 17, 22, 11 P.3d 714 (2000); United States v. Salvucci, 448 U.S. 83, 95, 100 S. Ct. 2547, 65 L. Ed. 2d 619 (1980). Automatic standing allows a defendant who does not have a legitimate expectation of privacy in an item to challenge its seizure when: 1) he is charged with an offense which has possession as an essential element, and 2) the defendant was in possession of the contraband at the time of the contested search. Zakel, 119 Wn.2d at 568 (holding that defendant did not have

automatic standing when he did not possess the stolen car at the time of the search).

Similarly, Hankerson cannot meet the second prong of the automatic standing test because he did not have possession of the Range Rover at the time it was seized. While the trial court declined to rule on this issue, the parties argued and briefed it.

4RP 68-69; 5RP 5; Supp. CP __ (sub no. 86, State's Trial Brief, filed April 2, 2012). Therefore, this Court may affirm on these grounds. See State v. Avery, 103 Wn. App. 527, 537, 13 P.3d 226 (2000) (the appellate court can affirm on any ground supported by the record).

Hankerson was not in the Range Rover nor was he located anywhere nearby when it was seized following a pursuit from Seattle to Bellevue. 3RP 35-38; 4RP 9-10, 12-13; CP 182. Auto Quest legally owned the Range Rover and had not given Hankerson permission to drive it. 3RP 47-48; CP 182.

As in Zakel, Hankerson did not possess the Range Rover at the time of the seizure. Therefore, he cannot meet the second prong of the automatic standing test and cannot challenge the seizure. See Zakel, 119 Wn.2d at 570.

 Officers Lawfully Impounded The Range Rover Because There Was Probable Cause To Believe It Was Stolen Or Used In The Felony Of Attempting To Elude A Pursuing Police Vehicle.

Warrantless searches and seizures are per se unreasonable aside from a few narrowly drawn exceptions. <u>State v. Tyler</u>, 177 Wn.2d 690, 698, 302 P.3d 165 (2013). One of these exceptions is a valid impound and inventory search of a vehicle. <u>Id.</u> Police may lawfully impound a vehicle:

- (1) as evidence of a crime, when the police have probable cause to believe the vehicle has been stolen or has been used in the commission of a felony offense;
- (2) under the 'community caretaking function' if (a) the vehicle must be moved because it has been abandoned, impedes traffic, or otherwise threatens public safety or if there is a threat to the vehicle itself and its contents of vandalism or theft, and (b) the defendant, the defendant's spouse, or friends are not available to move the vehicle. . . .

ld. (emphasis in original).

"Probable cause exists where the facts and circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge and of which the officer has reasonably trustworthy information are sufficient to warrant a person of reasonable caution in a belief that an offense has been committed." State v. Terrovona, 105 Wn.2d 632, 643, 716 P.2d

295 (1986). A bare suspicion of criminal activity is not sufficient, but probable cause is not a technical inquiry. <u>Id.</u>

 Officers had probable cause to believe the Range Rover was stolen.

Here, Trooper Bennett had probable cause to believe that the Range Rover was stolen based on his and his fellow officers' observations of the vehicle. 5RP 5; CP 182. SPD Officer Hanson had seen the Range Rover, which was missing front and back license plates, parked inappropriately in a normally vacant lot known as a dumping ground for stolen vehicles. 3RP 29-32; 5RP 2; CP 181-82. The driver appeared nervous upon seeing Hanson and eluded him by driving the wrong way down a one-way street. 3RP 32-33. The driver fled Seattle and WSP troopers picked up the pursuit in Bellevue. 3RP 34-36; 4RP 5-6; 5RP 3; CP 182.

Troopers observed more extreme driving by the Ranger Rover as witnesses reported the driver proceeded down a busy bike path on a summer afternoon to avoid police. 4RP 5-7; 5RP 4; CP 182. Bennett eventually found the Range Rover abandoned on a dead-end street. 4RP 9; 5RP 4; CP 182. The temporary license tag, which was barely visible in the rear window due to the dark tint,

returned to another vehicle in another city. 4RP 10; 5RP 4; CP 182. The VIN was not visible on the front dash. 4RP 10; 5RP 4; CP 182. No one was around the vehicle or in the surrounding area. 4RP 12-13; 5RP 5; CP 182. A neighbor did not recognize the vehicle nor had he seen anyone near it. 4RP 12-13.

Taken together, these facts and circumstances established probable cause that the Range Rover had been stolen. Therefore, police lawfully impounded the Range Rover.

 Officers had probable cause to believe the Range Rover had been used in the felony of attempting to elude police.

In addition, Bennett, through the facts relayed to him by dispatch from Hanson and other troopers, had probable cause to believe that the Range Rover had attempted to elude police, a felony. RCW 46.61.024(1); see State v. Ortega, 177 Wn.2d 116, 127, 297 P.3d 57 (2013) (officers may rely on cumulative knowledge of their fellow officers in making a felony arrest).

By the time Bennett located the Range Rover, he had learned that the driver had eluded SPD Officer Hanson in Seattle

¹¹ While the trial court found that the Range Rover was lawfully impounded because the officers believed it had been stolen, the record supports that the Range Rover was also used in the commission of the felony of attempting to elude and was evidence of that crime. CP 182-83. Thus, this Court can also affirm on that basis. <u>See Avery</u>, 103 Wn. App. at 537.

and had been pursued from Seattle to south Bellevue. 3RP 33-37; 4RP 5-14; 5RP 3; CP 182. These facts were relayed to the WSP. 3RP 36-37; 5RP 3; CP 182.

Based on these facts, Bennett had probable cause to believe that the Range Rover had been used in the commission of the felony of attempting to elude a pursuing police officer. See RCW 46.61.024. He was entitled to seize the Range Rover as evidence.

 Officers Lawfully Seized The Range Rover Because It Had Been Voluntarily Abandoned.

Abandoned property is also an exception to the warrant requirement. State v. Evans, 159 Wn.2d 402, 407, 150 P.3d 105 (2007). "Needing neither a warrant nor probable cause, law enforcement officers may retrieve and search voluntarily abandoned property without implicating an individual's rights under the Fourth Amendment or article 1, section 7 of our state constitution." State v. Reynolds, 144 Wn.2d 282, 287, 27 P.3d 200 (2001). The focus of the inquiry is on the combination of act and intent. State v. Hamilton, 179 Wn. App. 870, 885, 320 P.3d 142 (2014).

To challenge a seizure of abandoned property, a defendant must first show: 1) that he had an actual, subjective expectation of

privacy in the item, and 2) that society recognizes that expectation of privacy as reasonable. <u>Id.</u> at 409. This question is separate from the question of automatic standing. <u>Id.</u> at 406-07.

Hankerson cannot meet this two-part test because he did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the stolen Range Rover. Society does not recognize the right of a thief to privacy in a stolen car. See Rakas, 439 U.S. at 143 n.12 (noting that "a burglar plying his trade in a summer cabin during the off season may have a thoroughly justified subjective expectation of privacy, but it is not one which the law recognizes as 'legitimate.'"); see also Zakel,119 Wn.2d at 571 (no right to privacy in a stolen vehicle); see also State v. Jacobs, 101 Wn. App. 80, 87, 2 P.3d 974 (2000) (finding no reasonable expectation of privacy where the defendant's presence at the scene of the search is illegal).

While Hankerson correctly asserts that society recognizes that an individual may have a reasonable expectation of privacy in a vehicle that he does not own, his case is far different. App. Br. at 32. If he were a passenger or borrowing the car, then he may have had a reasonable expectation of privacy. See Minnesota v. Olson, 495 U.S. 91, 96-97, 110 S. Ct. 1684, 109 L. Ed. 2d 85 (1990) (holding that an overnight guest may have a reasonable

expectation of privacy); see also State v. Link, 136 Wn. App. 685, 693, 150 P.3d 610 (2007) (holding that a defendant had a reasonable expectation of privacy at his girlfriend's home). But, Hankerson had no legal right to occupy or possess the Range Rover. Because he cannot meet this threshold test, Hankerson cannot challenge the seizure of the abandoned Range Rover.

5. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED THE VIDEO SHOWING HANKERSON LEAVING THE GARAGE IN FRONT OF THE STOLEN LEXUS.

Hankerson contends that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the dash-camera video showing Hankerson's arrest as it was unduly prejudicial. This claim should be rejected. The trial court properly admitted the video, Ex. 16. Even if it was error to admit the video, any error was harmless in the context of the other admissible evidence.

The appellate court reviews a trial court's decision to admit evidence under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). A trial court will not be reversed unless its decision "is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons. . . ." Id.

Relevant evidence is evidence that has any tendency to make the existence of any fact of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence. ER 401. ER 403 states that relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

Here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the video showing officers entering the garage and arresting Hankerson. The video was from Officer Stone's dash-camera and was shown during his testimony. 12 6RP 96-112, 116; 7RP 45-50; Ex. 16. It was relevant because it showed Hankerson's proximity to the very recently stolen Lexus. 6RP 112-13; Ex. 16.

The video shows the officers arriving, contacting the two individuals near the Lexus, entering the garage, and then removing Hankerson and Antioquia. Ex. 16 at 5:46-24:29. Officers Brathwait and Ortiz briefly draw their firearms while Stone opens the garage door. Ex. 16 at 21:17-21:54. They did so due to their concern that

¹² The video shown was the file labeled 7446 on Ex. 16, which was Stone's badge number. 6RP 111-12; Ex. 16. Exhibit 16 has two other files which are not at issue on appeal. Ex. 16.

the suspects could be armed inside the garage. 6RP 108; 7RP 47-48. Officers pat Hankerson down and then handcuff him before he is led out of frame. Ex. 16 at 21:42-24:29. In total, the officers are seen with firearms drawn for thirty-seven seconds. Ex. 16 at 21:17-21:54. Hankerson is seen in handcuffs for less than a minute and a half. Ex. 16 at 23:06-24:29.

Hankerson asserts that the video is prejudicial because it shows officers with drawn firearms and Hankerson's arrest.

App. Br. at 35. Yet, Hankerson did not object to testimony to these same facts by officers. 6RP 108-10; 7RP 45-50. As the trial court found, the probative value of the video outweighed the minimal prejudice of showing officers with drawn firearms and Hankerson's arrest. 6RP 118. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the video.

If this Court finds that the trial court did abuse its discretion in admitting Ex. 16, any error was harmless. An evidentiary error not of constitutional magnitude is subject to the non-constitutional harmless error standard. State v. Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d 456, 468-69, 39 P.3d 294 (2002). "The error is harmless if the evidence is of minor significance compared to the overall evidence as a whole." Id.

The portion of the video which Hankerson contends requires reversal of his four convictions, only one of which involved the Lexus, was approximately 3 minutes. Ex. 16 at 21:17-24:30. The trial lasted six days and fourteen witnesses testified. Any error in admitting the video was harmless considering all of the testimony, the brief portion of the video, and the other testimony to these same facts. Reversal is not required.

D. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm Hankerson's convictions.